IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

2009

Framing of the 2008 presidential election in print news

Erin Kathleen O'gara Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd



Part of the Communication Commons

Recommended Citation

O'gara, Erin Kathleen, "Framing of the 2008 presidential election in print news" (2009). Graduate Theses and Dissertations. 10881. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/10881

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



Framing of the 2008 presidential election in print news

by

Erin O'Gara

A thesis submitted to the graduate faculty in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major: Journalism and Mass Communication

Program of Study Committee: Daniela V. Dimitrova, Major Professor Jacob Groshek Dianne Bystrom

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa

2009

Copyright © Erin K. O'Gara, 2009. All rights reserved.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	vi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Characteristics of Campaign News	1
The 2008 Election	6
CHAPTER II: LITERATURE REVIEW	8
Framing Theory	8
Framing and Political Communication	11
Framing the Candidates	12
Image vs. Issue Focus	15
Age and Gender	17
Research Questions	20
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	21
Analyzing News Articles	21
Arriving at the Sample	22
Operational Definition of Variables	22
Inter-Coder Reliability and Results	25
Statistical Tests	27
CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	28
Dominant Frames	29
Image and Issue Focus	32
Age and Gender References	35
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	38
Media Framing and the 2008 Election	38
Describing Candidates	44
Conclusions	48
Implications	49
Limitations	51
Suggestions for Future Research	51
APPENDIX A: CODE SHEETS	53
REFERENCES	59



LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1. Inter-coder reliability results	26
TABLE 2. Frequency of dominant frames by primary candidate discussed	30
TABLE 3. Frequency of dominant frames by story style	32
TABLE 4. Cross-tabulation of primary candidate discussed and mention of Palin's gender	37



Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to sincerely thank my major professor, Dr. Daniela V. Dimitrova for her hard work and confidence in me over the past two years. When unforeseen circumstances threatened the outcome of my thesis, Dr. Dimitrova volunteered to take over as major professor and never once made me feel as though she was burdened by the unexpected increase in workload; although I'm sure she was. I can honestly say that without Dr. Dimitrova, I have no idea what I would have done or where I would be now. Even before officially coming on as major professor, Dr. Dimitrova's ideas and wide knowledge of political communication and framing theory helped shape this study into the finished product it is today. This thesis is literally because of her.

I would also like to thank my committee member Dr. Jacob Groshek for his contributions to this study. Although Dr. Groshek became involved at a later stage in the thesis, his experience in political communication and framing theory, thoughtful insight and valuable suggestions greatly strengthened the overall work. I am very appreciative of his interest and willingness to help.

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to thank my outside committee member Dr. Dianne Bystrom for her involvement in this study. Dr. Bystrom's incredible knowledge in the field of political communication, her keen eye for detail and ability to always see the bigger picture gave this paper not only the accuracy, but the feminist perspective it deserved.

Any significant undertaking would not be possible if not for the constant support and encouragement of loved ones, and for this reason, I am indebted to all of my friends and family. A very special thank you is owed to my father, Dawn, Bill, Mindy and Tyler for your unwavering patience and understanding as you often changed your own schedules and went out



of your way to make countless things easier on me throughout this experience. I honestly could not have done this without you.

Finally, not only my thesis, but my entire graduate school experience was made wonderful by each of the incredible people that I met and befriended within my program. Shoshana, Andrea, Liz and Laura especially, knowing and completing this milestone with you was as eye-opening as it was inspiring. Your camaraderie and friendship are irreplaceable.

Throughout this trying, and sometimes frustrating process, I have learned indescribable amounts about higher education and feel fortunate to have done so under the talented faculty at Iowa State. I know that the knowledge I have gained during my time here will benefit me greatly as I continue in academia.

Abstract

This study examines newspaper coverage of the Democratic and Republican presidential and vice presidential candidates in the 2008 U.S. election. Since the composition of candidates involved in this election is so unprecedented, this study seeks to uncover the ways in which they are portrayed through the lens of framing theory. The study focused on three major frames: experience, race and viability. A total of 225 newspaper articles randomly collected from *The New York Times*, the *Chicago Tribune* and *USA Today* were content analyzed. The following questions were asked: What is the most dominant frame used in the coverage of the 2008 election? Is there a relationship between the dominant frame used and candidate focus? Is there a difference in the way news articles and non-news articles (feature stories, editorial/op ed.) frame candidates? Which received the greater amount of media attention in the 2008 election, image or issue-focused stories? What aspects of image are most frequently used in describing the candidates? How frequently is age used to describe the candidates in the 2008 election? How frequently is gender mentioned to describe the candidates?

The results show that consistent with previous research, the media continue to place a greater importance on candidate image and viability than on policy issues. The media paid little attention to the subject of age, but discussed race, gender and experience more thoroughly. The discussion of gender and the one female candidate was stereotypical and used harsher and more negative language than that used for the male candidates, especially when found in editorial/op ed. articles. This suggests that contrary to what many believe were improving conditions for female political candidates, the media still put a much greater emphasis on their gender than for their male counterparts.



Chapter I: Introduction

Once every four years the American public has the opportunity to put their democracy to work and vote the next president of the United States into office. This decision is not one taken lightly, and the months leading up to the election serve as an important time when most people begin to learn the crucial information about political candidates that will later shape their voting behavior. Since it would be nearly impossible for most citizens to ever hear each of the candidates speak in person, let alone have the opportunity to talk with them one-on-one, they must rely on outside organizations to provide information about each person running for office and a thorough background analysis of their respective campaigns and issues. Because the mass media is the most convenient way for most people to obtain this information, candidate coverage becomes especially important when it has the potential to be used in determining voter preference. Considering the critical nature of presidential elections, the accuracy and reliability of the information presented to the public by the news media is paramount.

A significant amount of research in the area of political communication is concerned with the notion that rather than simply reporting "just the facts" of elections and the candidates involved in them, the media often insert their own personal biases and opinions into their coverage by how they choose to report. Although the extent to which personal interpretation occurs is somewhat debatable, its existence does not necessarily signify a conscious attempt to present potential voters with one-sided news. Rather, a certain degree of interpretation on the part of the mass media has instead been argued by some to be result of a natural and unavoidable tendency for reporters to insert their own voice and experiences into the news before it is ultimately delivered to the public (Cook, 1998; Patterson, 1994). Because some individuality in reporting is inevitable, it should be expected that no two media sources would report news in



exactly the same way. However, there are several common practices in news reporting on presidential elections.

Despite attempts at neutrality, media coverage of any election may portray candidates and their issues in either a negative or positive light. Since a distinct story valence is frequently identified in political communication research, it is therefore an important element of research covering elections (Stemple & Windhauser, 1991). In studies that examine the overall story tone for common media frames used during election coverage, there is often a strong distinction between negative vs. positive media coverage (Diamond & D'Amato, 1996). Media coverage sometimes positions stories in either a favorable or unfavorable manner, (Bystrom et al., 2001) and the amount of positive vs. negative coverage a candidate receives not only changes the meaning of that story, it could have serious implications on electibility (Norris, 1997).

Often, the media have a proclivity toward portraying candidate interactions, speeches and quotes as more negative than they actually are (Rothwell-Truran, 2000). While this can't always be said of coverage for candidates in general, there have been exceptions where certain candidates are consistently covered in a more negative manner than others. In his study of the 2000 election, Patterson (2002) found that the overwhelming majority of coverage on both of the two major party candidates, George H. W. Bush and Al Gore was portrayed in a negative tone. Although perhaps significant, this finding was not necessarily unique to the 2000 election. Patterson (2002) also found that at the time of the 2000 election, no major party or presidential candidate had ever received a majority of positive coverage in more than two decades (Patterson, 1993). However, this might be due to the fact that for the large part the majority of candidate coverage is often neutral, rather than decisively positive or negative (Bystrom et al., 2001; Stemple & Windhauser, 1991). Regardless, the overall norm of neutrality does not mean that



media valence will remain consistent across all medium levels and there have occasionally been situations in which one media source was drastically more positive or negative toward certain candidates than the others (Carroll & Schreiber, 1997).

A considerable amount of political communication research has looked at this phenomenon, with results that often show large disparities in the amount of positive and negative slants used not only from candidate to candidate, but also in the amount of negative and positive stories across media networks and by reporter as well (Blumler, 1987; Carroll & Schreiber, 1997; Stemple & Windhauser, 1991). Some scholars believe that the disparity between the amount of negative or positive coverage of candidates, while apparent nonetheless, aren't actually an intended consequence on the part of the reporter, but rather an attempt to provide both sides to each story (Stemple & Windhauser, 1991).

Coverage of political news or events can often be somewhat difficult to comprehend, especially when it includes information that is hard to follow without sufficient background knowledge. Because of this, the media usually try to compensate by creating "something for everyone" (Kosicki & McLeod, 1990). This can frequently include focusing less on details of campaign and policy issues in favor of what are arguably "softer" aspects, such as perceived candidate image, poll standings and controversies that arise along the campaign trail. Some scholars argue that the media's focus on these "strategic" or non-issue topics can even be influential enough to ultimately dissuade voters from participating in elections altogether (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Valentino, Beckmann & Buhr, 2001). While it may be arguable that media coverage of these issues alone can be responsible for a significant impact on voter turnout, most scholars agree that focusing on aspects other than policy issues has become a negative trend in recent political journalism (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Valentino et al., 2001).



Among the criticism that the news media receive on their coverage of political elections are persistent accusations that rather than reporting the election as a serious event with consequences that have the potential to impact the entire world, it is instead often described as a high stakes "game" that involves strategy and tact to move forward, not necessarily just voter support (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Reber & Benoit, 2001; Valentino et al., 2001). In fact, although the exact terminology has varied between scholars, previous research has often classified coverage of political elections into two general categories: coverage that is primarily concerned with various aspects of candidate image, and coverage with a predominant focus on the candidate's political platform and policy issues (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Patterson, 1994; Valentino, et al., 2001). Although they may still hold a certain degree of importance to potential voters, many scholars believe the media focus on factors related to candidate image should be considered superficial aspects of the campaign. These arguably less-important issues often include things like "performance, style, and perception of the candidate" (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997, p. 33) and the most commonly utilized, how they are faring in the polls compared to one another (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Freitag, 2000; Johnson, 1993; Patterson, 1994). This last phenomenon has typically been referred to as "horserace" media coverage (picture two horses jockeying back and forth in a race) and is used by the media through their constant polling updates. Horserace coverage has been shown to be not only the most frequently identified type of "image" focused coverage, (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Valentino, et al., 2001) it has also been repeatedly shown to be the most common way for reporters to cover political elections in general (D'Angelo, Calderone & Territola, 2005; Domke et. al., 1997; Mantler & Whiteman, 1995; Stempel & Windhauser, 1991). Perhaps an alarming issue present in this trend is that as coverage focusing on polls and candidate image has been increasing, coverage reporting on campaign



platforms and major policy issues has also been on the decline over the past three decades (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Patterson, 1994).

Although there are no obvious, agreed-upon answers for what is at the root of this shift in media coverage, perhaps the change may be due, at least in part, to the emergence and now ubiquity of 24-hour news networks. Since these news networks are constantly running, reporters are forced to try to create new and exciting angles for stories that have already been discussed at length; attempting to make what may already be old news feel current without being tired or stale. Because of this, polls and minor events occurring on the campaign trail are usually a reliable change of pace from the otherwise mundane reporting on the same stump speeches. Further, while adding a new angle, they seem to provide seemingly unbiased or objective information (Rosenstiel, 2005). Perhaps adding some legitimacy to this belief is that although these news networks may provide access to political information 24-hours a day, their existence has not necessarily resulted in a better informed or more politically savvy public (PEW Research Center for People & The Press, 2007).

Another possible cause of such coverage is the fact that as more and more news sources are bought and owned by media monopolies and major wire service agencies it is possible that an increasing number of editors are picking up wire service stories rather than hiring journalists to write their own articles in a struggling economy. Therefore, because there are fewer sources that the news is coming from to begin with, the result could be at least somewhat responsible for potentially causing less diversity in political coverage (Klinenberg, 2007).

Regardless of the cause, a significant portion of political communication research reflects the feeling that "news media do not simply mirror the world" (Cook, 1998, p. 91). This sentiment stems from the idea that journalists often make their own interpretations of the news, and thus



"frame" issues according to what they deem most critical for public knowledge. The information that the public receives on political candidates is largely dependent upon which frame is utilized in that news coverage. This study hopes to add to the growing body of research on media framing by identifying some of the frames the media used most often in their coverage of the 2008 presidential election. However, before framing theory can be introduced, it is pertinent to consider the circumstances present in the 2008 presidential election.

The 2008 election

In addition to the gravity of both domestic and international issues facing the U.S. in 2008, the composition of candidates running for office creates an unprecedented and historical situation for both major parties. Barack Obama, the first-term Illinois Democratic senator was the first African American to run in a general election as a major party presidential candidate. His running mate and vice presidential candidate, Delaware Sen. Joe Biden, has served more than three decades in the Senate and before the election, was chair of both the Committee on Foreign Relations and the Subcommittee on Crime and Drugs in addition to serving as a member on eleven other Senate committees. Republican presidential candidate John McCain is also a seasoned U.S. senator from Arizona who has served more than 20 years in the Senate in addition to being a revered war hero and former prisoner of war in Vietnam. McCain's Senate experience includes serving as a ranking member of the Armed Services and as a member of seven other Senate committees. Republican vice presidential candidate Sarah Palin is a first-term Alaska Governor and although she is the only person of the four major candidates to have executive experience, at the time that McCain announced her as running mate, she was a relative newcomer to the national political scene. Palin is only the second woman to ever make it to the

vice presidential candidate level, (Geraldine Ferarro was Walter Mondale's running mate during his unsuccessful 1984 presidential bid) and is the first to do so for the Republican Party.

Because the dynamic of the 2008 election is so unprecedented in terms of the diversity represented in the major candidates, it is not surprising that media coverage would emphasize the unique characteristics of the candidates running for office. In an analysis of campaign news articles, the Project for Excellence in Journalism (2008) found that the media did, in fact, often highlight the historical aspect of the election in their campaign coverage more than any other specific issue. However, while one might assume that high levels of public interest might be reflected in high levels of media attention, increased coverage by no means indicates that the coverage will be positive (Stempel & Windhauser, 1991).

The unique context of the 2008 election not only presents an interesting composition of candidates and issues, it also allows for an opportunity to examine the ways that the media covered this event in terms of the already identified common characteristics of political news.

Because the election of the president of the United States is a serious matter with important consequences, considering how the media present information that can contribute to voter decisions merits scholarly attention. Finally, since a large amount of this research is centered on media coverage of political issues and events, this study will examine the 2008 election coverage as it relates to framing theory.

Chapter II: Theoretical Background

Framing Theory

One of the first scholars to illustrate framing as a complete theory of mass media was Robert Entman (1993), who defined media framing as a process by which the media "select some aspect of a perceived reality and make them more salient in a communicating text in a way that can promote a certain definition, interpretation, moral evaluation or treatment recommendation" (p. 52). In the current study, media frames refer to the way the media describe candidates (in terms, for example, of candidate race, experience or viability) using metaphors, catch phrases, and key words.

Over the past several decades, scholars have continued to define exactly what constitutes media framing. "Ideally, framing research examines the construction of news stories, how these stories articulate frames, and how audience members interpret these frames" (Carragee & Roefs, 2004, p. 215). The majority of framing research that has been conducted on the mass media has followed various aspects of this process (Entman, 1991, 1993; Gamson, 1992; Reese, 2001).

Other scholars have defined framing as "a central organizing idea for news content that supplies a context and suggests what the issue is through the use of selection, emphasis, exclusion and elaboration" (Tankard, 2003, p. 100). Further definitions explain that "... frames construct particular meanings concerning issues by their patterns of emphasis, interpretation, and exclusion" (Carragee & Roefs, 2004, p. 17). Although many definitions have been presented to describe framing theory, it can broadly be described as being concerned with the way the media portray the news in their discourse and how these portrayals shape audience opinions and cognitions (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997).



Framing also has distinct dimensions: the topic of a news item, presentation, cognitive attributes (what is included in the frame) and affective attributes (the tone of the frame in the news story in which it is found) (Ghanem, 1997). Many scholars also believe that media framing is part of a greater process that involves "frame-building" and "frame-setting" (de Vreese, 2005, p. 52). Frame-building is primarily concerned with how the media are influenced to develop the frames that they employ, and frame-setting considers how these frames may impact existing audience beliefs and knowledge (de Vreese, 2005).

Finally, a considerable amount of framing research also considers the fact that media frames can serve as both dependent and independent variables (de Vreese, 2005; Scheufele, 1999), and can be both general and issue specific (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Iyengar, 1987, 1989, 1996). In this study, the candidate frames will be analyzed as independent variables and issue specific. The candidate frames are being considered independent variables because previous research has shown that media framing has the potential to impact public opinion on those issues.

While they are sometimes obvious, frames are often more subtle in nature, which can make them difficult to detect. "Frames may be explicit components of messages, implied by word or name selections in the text of the message, or even activated in the audience without the audience's awareness that the activation has even taken place" (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997, p. 44). However, regardless of how overtly they appear, media frames can have the same impact. "The subtlety of framing is in the way it can construct reality, impact interpretations and influence audience responses and opinions toward a particular event after the event enters the public agenda" (Dimitrova & Stromback, 2005, p. 405).



Cappella and Jamieson (1997) suggest that even very small changes in wording can have a significant impact on audience understanding of the news item. Similarly, Valentino, Beckman & Buhr (2001) found in their study, in which they used fictitious newspaper articles, that something as small as a change in one or two words can completely alter the perceived frame of the story. According to Entman (1993), this is possible because with just a few words, the media can emphasize bits of information about the item they are covering, and in doing so, increase their seeming importance. In the especially unique presidential election of 2008, where the presidential and vice presidential candidates vary greatly in types of experience, age, gender and race, this has the potential to take many different forms.

Although Entman (1993) originally defined the framing paradigm to be used with communication research, he claims that framing "could be applied with similar benefits to the study of public opinion and voting behavior in political science" (p. 56). Many scholars agree. "The origin of framing research in media sociology directly linked the framing process to the distribution of social and political power in American society" (Carragee & Roefs, 2004, p. 221).

Furthermore, a distinction should be made between framing theory and other mass communication theories, specifically agenda setting. Agenda setting is generally examined as the way that the media place issues in order of importance (Weaver, McCombs & Shaw, 2004) where media frames are often examined in the context of how these issues are then relayed to the public. However, there has been growing interest in the area of second-level agenda setting that also examines message attributes. The basic idea behind the issue of message attributes is that when an object (the topic of the news article) is placed on the public's radar through agenda setting, certain characteristics (or attributes) of that object are also emphasized (Weaver et al., 2004, p. 259). However, this differs from framing theory in that in second-level agenda setting,



attributes are not necessarily the focus or dominant theme of the overall story, and may rather sometimes serve as tangential points.

Framing and Political Communication

Framing theory is frequently used by scholars examining the impact of political communication. D'Angelo, Calderone and Territola, (2005) claim that this is the case because of the dichotomy between the frames the candidates wish to impose upon themselves, and those that the media place them in. Despite this sometimes contrasting relationship, most people argue that in the U.S., the press ultimately has control of candidate framing (Patterson, 1994).

Previous scholars have concluded that media use directly contributes to the political knowledge of audiences and potential voters (Chaffee, Zhao & Leshner, 1992; Lemert, 1993; Zhu, Milavsky & Biswas, 1994). In other words, the way that the candidates are framed by the media can be crucial to the public's understanding and interpretation of the presidential election. Entman (1993) claims that frames can often be self-reinforcing. Therefore, if the media portray one candidate as being significantly more experienced and viable than another, it may become a self-fulfilling prophecy.

Even though considerable research has been conducted on frames utilized in political messages, D'Angelo et al. (2005) claim there is still significant room to examine the ways in which these frames are used in media content. This study examines the frames that were employed in the 2008 presidential election, where the political climate and the composition of candidates at this level in the presidential race are both radically different than ever before in U.S. history.



Framing the Candidates

Since framing theory is used so frequently in research of political communication, it is pertinent to examine the types of frames employed in candidate coverage. This study will examine three separate frames as they relate to media coverage of political elections.

Experience frame

Perceived experience has long been an important element of a successful presidential bid, and can be deemed a necessary criterion for being considered a qualified candidate. Because it is so crucial to candidate electability, it is often heavily emphasized by the media, with the 2008 election serving as no exception (Jones, 2008). Since the issue of experience is often somewhat subjective, the media have the opportunity to frame it as something similar to a perceived level of competency. Media coverage of candidate competencies and perceived level of experience are paramount in determining how voters feel about each person running for office (Sullivan, Aldrich, Borgida & Rahn, 1990). In fact, some scholars even believe that media coverage of the perceived level of candidate experience is not only a commonly utilized frame, but one of the most important factors in an election (Sullivan et al., 1990).

The two major parties in the 2008 election had both a long-term Senate veteran (McCain and Biden) and a less-experienced, arguably more novice candidate (Obama and Palin). This created an interesting dynamic for voters in terms of perceived candidate experience. In a 2008 PEW research poll, the American public expressed concerns with the experience of these two candidates, especially with regard to Palin, whom more than 51% of people said was not qualified for the vice presidential candidacy. Since perceived candidate experience has been shown to be a commonly emphasized element of election coverage, (Sullivan et al., 1990) one could assume that the 2008 situation, which had candidates weighing in at each end of the

spectrum, would certainly be no different – especially with the public voicing concerns for two of the candidate's lack of experience in the months leading up to the election.

Race frame

Although poll after poll has shown that voters claim race does not play a significant role in their voting decisions (Newport, 2008; Powers, 2007), it has been recognized that the media have continued to utilize this frame during elections involving minority candidates (Powers, 2007). Some scholars feel that the media focus heavily on the issue of race in politics because there is a little-discussed assumption that a candidate must be white in order to successfully win an election (Duerst-Lahti, 2008).

Others, including some media critics, have claimed that the issue of race is a "journalistic standby," a familiar frame used in media coverage (Powers, 2007, p. 64). It has also been suggested that this is an especially frequent aspect of media coverage in elections when the media have reached a point where policy issues aren't as heavily emphasized (Norris, 1997). Arguably the most common framing technique that the media uses when covering race in elections is to portray minority candidates as outsiders breaking through, with somewhat smaller changes of winning (Sinclair-Chapman & Price, 2008).

Undoubtedly, one of the greatest "historic" elements of the 2008 election was the fact that for the first time in the history of the United States, one of the two major party presidential candidates was an African American. This often led the media to frame this as a monumental characteristic of the 2008 presidential election in the preceding months (Jones, 2007; Powers, 2007). According to Sinclair-Chapman and Price (2008), Obama's candidacy began similarly to other minority candidates: large support from college communities, grassroots organization and running as somewhat of an outsider (p. 740). However, part of what made Obama the



Democratic Party's pick for their presidential candidate is the same thing that the media latched onto: his mainstream appeal and portrayal of the "American dream," an aspect that emphasized in his campaign and the media (Sinclair-Chapman & Price, 2008, p. 739). Since it has also been shown that many people have an unconscious belief that a candidate must be white in order to win, (Duerst-Lahti, 2008) the presence of a major party candidate with a very real chance of winning the election (who just happens to be an African American), captures significant media coverage.

Viability frame

In presidential elections, the media commonly place a very large emphasis on candidate viability and poll standings. This is often done using a technique referred to as "horserace" news coverage which can either give the impression that candidates are in for a close race or that a winner has already been determined from an early point. As a widely used form of campaign coverage, (Patterson, 1994) viability could be considered a type of media frame because it tells audiences to focus on poll standings rather than issues.

Despite the incessant criticism it receives, horserace-style coverage that focuses primarily on candidate viability prevails, and has been shown to be one of the most dominant media themes throughout election coverage over the past 30 years (Domke, Fan, Fibison, Shah, Smith & Watts, 1997; Mantler & Whiteman, 1995; Stempel & Windhauser, 1991). Many scholars agree. Reber and Benoit (2001) observe that "the media have a strong proclivity toward the 'horserace' aspects of campaigns: who is ahead, what states are being contested, and who is campaigning where" (p. 31). Constant media reliance on pre-election polls that stress one candidate's viability over another have been criticized by many scholars as trivializing an extremely important event like presidential elections and explaining them as though they were



little more than a game (Valentino et al., 2001). Regardless, this type of coverage not only continues, but remains extremely prevalent in contemporary elections (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Patterson, 1994; Valentino, et al., 2001). Since this type of coverage has become such a staple in American media that it is now the largest amount of campaign coverage, (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Patterson, 1994; Valentino, et al., 2001) news articles focusing on the candidates in the 2008 election should be no exception.

Image vs. Issue Focus

Outside of framing theory, there are several elements that have been identified in media coverage of political events. As mentioned in the previous chapter, one of the most oft-cited criticisms of coverage of political campaigns is the media's proclivity toward presenting a greater amount of stories that focus on candidate image rather than issue or policy stance (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Domke et al., 1997; Mantler & Whiteman, 1995; Patterson, 1994; Stempel & Windhauser, 1991). This basic idea has often been identified and referred to as "strategic" coverage in previous research (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Patterson, 1994; Valentino, et al., 2001). However, for the purpose of this study, news stories will be considered to either have a primary focus on candidate image or issue.

Image

The way that the media covers candidate image has been an essential element of campaign success in every election since the advent of television (Rothwell-Truran, 2000). Although it is often not overtly discussed in the media, considerable research supports this claim (Wattier, 2004). This is particularly true for female candidates, whose physical appearances are more often the subject of media attention than their male colleagues (Dimitrova & Geske, 2009; Gidengil & Everitt, 2003; Herzog, 1998; Kahn, 1996). This can include everything from the

candidate's physical attractiveness, clothing choices, hair color and style to their age, and has been shown to be disproportionately bestowed upon female candidates (Braden, 1996; Devitt, 2002; Herzog, 1998). While Bystrom et al., 2001 found this trend to be declining overall, a considerable amount of coverage of Sarah Palin in the 2008 election seemed to focus heavily on her physical image and personality traits (Kim, 2008).

While media messages containing descriptions of a candidate's physical image are relatively obvious to detect, this study considers image as taking the form of anything from physical appearance to mannerisms, personal speaking style and poll standing. Research has shown that the image imbued upon candidates by the media may be so important that it has actually been at the root of considerable public support or contempt (Stempel & Windhauser, 1991; Wattier, 2004). In fact, some scholars have found that the way that the media covers or portrays candidate's image and personal attributes can ultimately be as important as party affiliation and issue stances when voters are deciding who is closest to their personal preferences (Sullivan, Aldrich, Borgida & Rahn, 1990). Since previous research has also shown that media coverage of political elections has become increasingly focused on candidate image and poll standings (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Patterson, 1994) this too, is a trend that is likely to not disappear.

Issue

Coverage focusing less on policy issues has become increasingly the norm in American media. In just a four-year time span (1988-1992), policy or "issue" coverage decreased by 7 percent (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997, p. 33). Similarly, Patterson (1994) also found a sharp decline in policy focus over time in a study of *New York Times* headlines from 1960 to 1992. This may have negative implications for potential voters that reach beyond having a less well-

informed electorate. It has been shown that consistent exposure to what could be considered "image" focused news may increase voter cynicism and be influential enough to dissuade voters from participating in elections (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Valentino, Beckmann & Buhr, 2001). In fact, continued media focus on candidate image and viability, among other things, and the tendency to do so in either starkly positive or negative ways has repeatedly been a major criticism of political communication (Stemple & Windhauser, 1991). Since this trend has been increasing for decades (Patterson, 1994), it is likely to be the same in the coverage of the 2008 election.

Age and Gender

Other relevant characteristics of election media coverage that will be identified in this study are discussion of the candidate's age and gender in each of the news articles. These elements have each been identified as important in the coverage of political elections in the past, and because of the composition of candidates in 2008 this study will seek to examine their presence. In addition to identifying the elements in news stories, the study will also suggest whether they are found as part of an issue or image-focused article.

Age

When age has been displayed as an element of media coverage, it is often used in a way that questions how it will impact the candidate in office (Abrams, 1998). In the case of Republican presidential candidate Bob Dole in 1996, the media frequently covered age as a question of whether at age 73, he would be able to hold up to the demands and pressures of the presidency, govern effectively and remain healthy enough to finish his term (Abrams, 1998). Because his ability to successfully withstand the pressures of the president's office and survive a

full term in office were covered so extensively, previous research found that the media also placed more of an emphasis on who he selected as a running mate (Diamond & D'Amato, 1996).

Some scholars believe that the mention and discussion of age during political campaigns is often a blatant example of "ageism" on the part of the mass media as it is rarely done with the same level of frequency for young candidates (Diamond & D'Amato, 1996). In the case of Bob Dole in 1996, Diamond and D'Amato (1996) said, "When he is full of energy it is in spite of his age, and it's news when he seems to be flagging or fumbling, because of his age" (p. 43).

Age has arguably been an important and frequently discussed element of the 2008 election (USA Today, 2008). At 72 years old, McCain would be the oldest president ever elected into office, and on the other end of the spectrum, at just 47, Barack Obama would be the fifthyoungest president in U.S. history. However, the two extremes present in this election are not the first time that candidate age has been an issue of public concern. Although public polls have consistently shown race, gender and religious affiliation to be declining in importance among voters over the past fifty years, candidate age has remained critical (Jones, 2007). In fact, according to a *USA Today* survey conducted in March 2008, 40% of Americans cited both McCain and Obama's ages as major concerns in the upcoming election.

Obama's appeal to younger Americans has also been a source of campaign discussion, particularly because of the record of poor voter turnout among members of that demographic. However, efforts to increase youth-voter participation in recent elections have helped bolster turnout across the country (Bystrom & Dimitrova, 2007) which made this aspect of the campaign somewhat unpredictable.



Gender

Differential treatment according to gender continues to be a common and lamented quality of news coverage of female politicians in American media (Kahn, 1994, 1992; Leeper, 1991; Smith, 1997). Previous research on media coverage of politicians has consistently shown that the disparity between the genders is largely detrimental to female candidates, (Kahn, 1994, 1992; Gidengil & Everitt, 2003; Leeper, 1991; Sapiro, 1982) although Bystrom, Robertson and Banwart (2001) have found this trend to be declining in more recent elections. One other consistent theme in media coverage of female candidates is to give them slightly less coverage than their male counterparts (Smith, 1997; Stempel & Windhauser, 1991). The media also often focus more heavily on the physical appearance of female candidates and accentuate both their feminine or masculine characteristics in a way that reinforces traditional gender stereotypes (Herzog, 1998; Kahn, 1996). This is commonly done by describing their personalities in ways that try to place them into roles such as a wife and mother (Dimitrova & Geske, 2009; Kahn, 1994; Norris, 1997) or as having volatile and sensitive emotions (Ross & Sreberny, 2000). Although female candidates and women leaders abroad are extremely diverse and few fit stereotypical gender stereotypes (Norris, 1997), research has shown that they are consistently placed into these generalizations (Kahn, 1994; Norris, 1997). Further, according to Bystrom et al. (2001) the overall issue of gender, marital status, and having children are far more likely to be discussed about female candidates than males in the same role even though female candidates don't necessarily discuss their families more often (Bystrom et al., 2001).

Other common ways that the media addresses candidate gender involve the interpretive language used when relaying messages of female candidates. It has been shown that female candidates, their issue stances and their responses are often described in much harsher and more



severe terms than are male candidates (Eagly, Makhijani & Klonsky, 1992; Gidengil & Everitt, 2003).

A considerable amount of accusations were made at the sometimes blatantly sexist comments made about current Secretary of State and then New York Sen. Hillary Clinton during the 2008 Democratic primaries (Farhi, 2008). Coverage focusing on her appearance was often negative (Kim, 2008) and a considerable amount focusing on her personality emphasized the ways in which she differed from stereotypically feminine traits as defined in previous research (Bystrom, Banwart, Kaid & Robertson, 2004; Dimitrova & Geske, 2009; Norris, 1997). So when Alaska Gov. Sarah Palin was announced as the Vice Presidential candidate for the Republican Party within the same election, it was easy to assume that very little would have changed for a woman in such a role.

Research Questions

election?

Based on the forgoing literature review, the following research questions are posed:

RQ1: What is the most dominant frame used in newspaper coverage of the 2008 presidential

RQ2: Is there a relationship between the dominant frame used and candidate focus?

RQ3: Is there a difference in the way news articles and non-news articles (feature stories, editorial/op ed.) frame candidates?

RQ4a: Which received the greater amount of media attention in the 2008 election, image or issue-focused stories?

RQ4b: What aspects of image are most frequently used in describing the candidates?

RQ5: How frequently is age used to describe the candidates in the 2008 election?

RQ6: How frequently is gender mentioned to describe the candidates?



Chapter III: Methodology

To address the research questions posed in the previous chapter, a content analysis was conducted. Content analysis, as defined by Kerlinger (2000) is a "method of studying and analyzing communication in a systematic, objective, and quantitative manner for the purpose of measuring variables" (as cited in Wimmer & Dominick, 2006, p. 150).

Content analysis is appropriate for this study in that it aims to uncover media frames used in the 2008 presidential election.

Analyzing the News Articles

To determine the frames most often utilized in the 2008 presidential campaign, three frames were identified: experience, race and viability. Since the mainstream media are the most convenient way to find information on each of the candidates, people often turn to those channels to learn more. Because of their ability to reach large groups of people, inexpensive nature and large amount of content, newspapers have often been a source of examination for content analysis. Further, since they are utilized by so many people to obtain campaign information, newspapers are also often the focus of thorough examination of political news (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; D'Angelo, et al., 2005; Patterson, 1994; Stempel & Windhauser, 1991; Valentino, et al., 2001). This study intends to add to this research by examining newspaper articles about the election in the major U.S. newspapers *The New York Times*, the *Chicago* Tribune and USA Today. These newspapers were selected because they are all within the top 10 newspapers with the largest circulation in the United States, with USA Today at number one (Newspapers.com, 2007). Further, *The New York Times* has long been considered the "paper of record" for the U.S. and the *Chicago Tribune* is published in the home city of one of the presidential candidates (Obama).



Arriving at the Sample

For the purposes of this study, 75 randomly selected newspaper articles in each paper were gathered from *The New York Times*, the *Chicago Tribune* and *USA Today*, within the time period August 29, 2008 – November 3, 2008. These dates were selected because they range from the day that the final candidate (Palin) was announced and spans to the day before the election.

To collect the stories to be examined from all three newspapers, a search was conducted using the online archiving database Access World News. A separate search was conducted for each paper between the given dates and using the search term "2008 Election." The search yielded 1,334 results for *The New York Times*, 407 for the *Chicago Tribune*, and 584 for *USA Today*. The sample of 75 news articles from each paper was selected using a table of random numbers to produce a total of 225 articles to be analyzed.

Each of the articles was analyzed using a code sheet adapted for this study from previous political communication research including Bystrom (2008).

Operational Definition of Variables

Candidate Frames

This study examined three separate types of media frames used to describe the candidates in the 2008 election. Because it is likely that more than one frame will be present in each article, the study focused on the most dominant frame first (identified in the code sheet as "frame 1", followed by any others ("frame 2", "frame 3").

Since more than one candidate was mentioned in each story, the primary candidate being discussed in the focus of the dominant frame was identified as "candidate 1", followed subsequently in terms of focus by each other candidate mentioned ("candidate 2", "candidate 3", "candidate 4").



The individual candidate frames are as follows:

- 1. The *experience* frame emphasizes the candidate's experience as a major theme of the story. This frame may talk specifically about political or personal life experience as the basis of candidate credibility (Jones, 2008).
- 2. The *race* frame is present in stories that emphasize the racial differences between the candidates, a technique that is commonly used by the media in situations with racial diversity (Powers, 2007). This can also include how race may impact voter decisions or preferences.
- 3. The *viability* frame emphasizes the likelihood of the candidate(s) being elected in the general election. Messages using this frame may appear in horserace-type coverage and stress how far ahead or behind one candidate is compared to another, a phenomenon that has been well-documented in previous research on political communication (Domke et. al., 1997; Mantler & Whiteman, 1995; Stempel & Windhauser, 1991).

Image vs. Issue Focus

This study classified each story as being either predominantly focused on candidate image or issue. Since both aspects of image and issue were present in each article, coders were instructed to identify the dominant overall focus of the story.

Image and issue focus are as follows:

1. Messages possessing a focus on candidate *image* have a heavy focus on the physical appearance and personal attributes of the candidates, and includes discussion of facial expressions, body language, clothing or hair (Braden, 1996; Devitt, 20002; Dimitrova & Geske, 2009). Image-focused stories also primarily discuss candidate position in polls,



- tactics, speaking style and other aspects of either the candidates or their campaigns that are not related to policy issue.
- 2. Stories with a focus on *issue* are present in media messages stressing the candidate's campaign platforms, proposed policies or issue stances. Articles that have are predominantly focused on issues include little to no discussion of the candidate's physical image, personal attributes or poll standing.

Describing the Candidates

Because of the unique situation presented in the composure of major party candidates in the 2008 election, this study also examined the ways in which age, gender and article valence are used in media coverage.

The definitions of these variables of interest are as follows:

- 1. Age was coded as present in the news article if it was mentioned in reference to the age of a political candidate. If age was mentioned, coders indicated whether it was discussed as a candidate asset, candidate detriment or whether it was mentioned as related to potential voters. Coders were provided with the option to record other discussions of age as a string variable.
- 2. Coders identified whether gender was mentioned in reference to each candidate. If gender was mentioned, coders indicated whether it was discussed as related to candidate appearance, the candidate's parental role or the candidate's masculine or feminine traits.
 Coders were provided with the option to record other discussions of gender as a string variable.
- 3. A distinctly positive or negative slant of the story is frequently identified in election coverage and can be considered the overall tone, or *valence* of the story. A positive or



negative slant is present in articles that contain strongly loaded positive or negative terms or appear to be more favorable toward one candidate than the other. Those articles without a negative or positive slant or with balanced coverage were coded as "neutral" or in the case of no clearly identifiable valence, they were coded as "can't be determined".

Inter-coder Reliability

"The concept of reliability is crucial to content analysis" (Wimmer & Dominick, 2006, p. 165). Because content analysis aims for an accurate recording of "relatively objective (or at least intersubjective) characteristics of messages" (Neuendorf, 2002, p. 141) in a given text, the reliability of those messages being detected is paramount. Inter-coder reliability is defined by Wimmer & Dominick (2006) as the "levels of agreement among independent coders who code the same content using the same coding instruments" (p. 165).

Two graduate students, including the author, coded for the variables. The nominal variables of interest in this study were coded and inter-coder reliability was assessed using Cohen's *kappa*:

Cohen's $kappa = \frac{\% \text{ observed agreement}}{\text{(# of objects coded) x (# of coders)}} - \frac{\% \text{ expected agreement}}{\text{expected agreement}}$

Using this method, a minimum reliability coefficient of 0.75 must be obtained. Most general textbooks on content analysis recommend using at least a minimum of 10% of the entire sample size when determining inter-coder reliability (Neuendorf, 2002). This study tested for inter-coder reliability on a sub-sample of 34 articles, or 15% of the total sample size of 225.

Table 1: Inter-coder reliability results

Variable	Карра=
Story Focus	.824
Frame 1	.915
Frame 2	.752
Frame 3	1.0
McCain valence	.847
Obama valence	.843
Palin valence	.818
Biden valence	.841
McCain gender mentioned	1.0
Obama gender mentioned	1.0
Palin gender mentioned	.892
Biden gender mentioned	1.0
Gender discussed in terms of appearance	1.0
Gender discussed as parental role	.717
Gender discussed in terms of masculine/feminine traits	.872
McCain age mentioned	1.0
Obama age mentioned	1.0
Palin age mentioned	1.0
Biden age mentioned	1.0
Age discussed as a candidate asset	1.0
Age discussed as a candidate detriment	1.0
Age discussed as related to potential voters	1.0
McCain image: appearance	1.0
McCain image: spouse mentioned	1.0
McCain image: children mentioned	1.0
McCain image: poll standing	.884
McCain image: personality	.842
Obama image: appearance	.788
Obama image: spouse mentioned	1.0
Obama image: children mentioned	1.0
Obama image: poll standing	.943
Obama image: personality	1.0
Palin image: appearance	1.0
Palin image: spouse mentioned	1.0
Palin image: children mentioned	.875
Palin image: poll standing	.908
Palin image: personality	.924
Biden image: appearance	1.0
Biden image: spouse mentioned	1.0
Biden image: children mentioned	1.0
Biden image: poll standing	1.0
Biden image: personality	1.0

Note: Average *kappa* for all variables in table = .940



Statistical Tests

The statistical analysis computer program SPSS (Statistical Program for the Social Sciences) was used to obtain descriptive statistics for responses to each of the research questions posed in the previous chapter. Full responses to several of the research questions required the use of more than one test. For the answers to RQ1, RQ4a, RQ4b, RQ5 and RQ6, frequency distribution data were collected. For answers to RQ2, RQ3, RQ4b, RQ5 and RQ6 cross-tabulations and chi-square tests were conducted.

Chapter IV: Results

This study explored newspaper coverage of the 2008 presidential election within the context of framing theory. The results presented in this chapter examine the frames elicited from three leading U.S. newspapers, *The New York Times*, the *Chicago Tribune* and *USA Today*. The study also discusses various aspects of coverage focusing on each of the four major party candidates.

A total of 75 articles from each paper, published between August 29 and November 3, 2008, were collected and analyzed. Most articles, (116, or 51.6%) were published during the month of October, and 163 (72.4%) were written by local staff reporters of each respective paper. The majority of the articles analyzed, (110, or 48.9%) were news articles, followed by 71 (31.6%) feature stories and 44 (19.6%) editorial/op ed. pieces.

As one might expect, both major party presidential candidates Barack Obama and John McCain were mentioned in a large majority of articles, 191 (84.9%) and 189 (84%) articles respectively. Vice presidential candidates Sarah Palin and Joe Biden were mentioned much less frequently, at 89 (39.6%) and 33 (14.7%) articles respectively, with Biden being referenced considerably less often than the other three. McCain was most often the primary focus in articles, with a total of 95 (42.2%) concentrating on him over other candidates. Obama was the primary candidate in 85 (37.8%) articles, and receiving less media attention were the two vice presidential candidates, with 29 (12.9%) of articles focused predominantly on Palin, and a total of 3 (1.3%) articles had Biden as the primary focus. There were a total of 13 (5.8%) articles for which a primary candidate could not be identified, leaving 212 articles with a primary candidate discussed.

In the 189 articles that mentioned McCain, 9 (4.8%) were considered positive, 30 (15.9%) were considered negative, 148 (78.3%) were neutral and 2 (1.1%) could not be determined. Similarly, in the 191 articles that mentioned Obama, 22 (11.5%) were positive, 10 (5.2%) were considered negative, 155



(81.2%) were neutral and 4 (2.1%) could not be determined. Palin was mentioned in 89 articles, 10 (11.2%) of which were considered positive, 27 (30.3%) negative, 50 (56.2%) were neutral and 2 (2.2%) could not be determined. Of the 33 articles that Biden was mentioned in, 4 (12.1%) were positive, none were negative, 25 (75.8%) were neutral and 4 (12.1%) could not be determined. Although the majority of articles for each candidate were neutral, McCain and Palin both received a greater percentage of negative articles and fewer positive articles than both Obama and Biden. Palin in particular had the greatest amount of negative articles, with just over half of hers appearing as neutral.

Dominant Frames

RQ1 asked: "What is the most dominant frame used in newspaper coverage of the 2008 presidential election?" The literature suggested three frames relevant to the 2008 election that have been identified in previous coverage of presidential races: experience, race and viability. A dominant frame could not be identified in 93 articles, leaving a sample size of 132 articles with clearly dominant frames of interest to this study. Excluding the stories where a dominant frame could not be identified, the viability frame emerged as the most dominant of the three being examined, appearing as the predominant frame in 83 (62.9%) articles. Following viability was experience, which was the dominant frame in 25 (18.9%) of the articles. Very close to experience was the race frame, which appeared as the dominant frame in 24 (18.2%) articles.

RQ2 asked: "Is there a relationship between the dominant frame used and candidate focus?" Excluding articles for which a dominant frame could not be determined, the remaining 132 articles with a dominant frame present were analyzed. Of the 95 articles listing McCain as the primary candidate, a dominant frame was identified in 53. In the 85 articles identifying Obama as the primary candidate discussed, a dominant frame was identified in a total of 60 articles. Finally, in the 29 articles with Sarah Palin as the primary candidate, a dominant frame

was identified in 19. The three articles displaying Biden as the primary candidate did not have a dominant frame identified.

As Table 2 shows, the viability frame was the most dominant in articles with a primary focus on both McCain (42, or 79.2%) and Obama (35, or 58.3%). Only 8 (15.1%) articles focusing on McCain as the primary candidate had experience as the dominant frame, and 3 (5.7%) had race as most dominant. After viability, 21 (35%) articles with Obama as the primary candidate had race as a dominant frame, followed by the experience frame, which was most dominant in 4 (6.7%) articles. The most frequently occurring frame used for Palin was experience, which was most dominant in 13 (68.4%) articles. Following experience was the viability frame, which was most dominant in 6 (31.6%) of articles where Palin was the primary candidate. The race frame was not present in any articles with Palin as the primary candidate discussed.

Due to the low number of observations in some cells, chi-square tests could not be performed.

Table 2: Frequency of dominant frames by primary candidate discussed.

1	McCain	Obama	Palin	Total
Experience	8 (15.1%)	4 (6.7%)	13 (68.4%)	25
Race	3 (5.7%)	21 (35%)	0 (0%)	24
Viability	42 (79.2%)	35 (58.3%)	6 (31.6%)	83
Total	53	60	19	132

RQ3 asked: "Is there a difference in the way news articles and non-news articles (feature stories, editorial/op ed.) frame candidates?" A dominant frame was identified in 66 news articles, 43 feature stories and 23 editorial/op ed. pieces. Eliminating articles for which a dominant frame could not be determined, the experience frame was present in 25 articles. It was most commonly seen in editorial/op ed. pieces, where it was identified in 8 (34.8%) articles, followed by news stories, where it appeared in 11 (16.7%) articles and feature stories where it was used as the primary frame in 6 (14%) articles.

The race frame was most often found in editorial/op ed. pieces, where it was identified in 6 (26.1%) articles, followed by feature stories, with 9 (20.9%) articles and 9 (13.6%) news articles.

The viability frame was most often identified in news stories, where it emerged as the dominant frame in 46 (69.7%) of the articles. This was followed by feature stories, where viability was the dominant frame in 28 (65.1%) of the articles. Finally, viability was present as the dominant frame in 9 (39.1%) editorial/op ed. articles analyzed.

As Table 3 shows, the editorial/op ed. articles were more likely to use the experience and race frames than were feature or news stories. News and feature articles, however, more often utilized the viability frame than editorials. Viability appears as the most frequently occurring frame in each type of article. The differences in framing among news stories, feature stories and editorial/op ed. articles were statistically significant, but only at the .10 level ($\chi^2 = 8.10$, df = 4, p = .088).

Table 3: Frequency of dominant frames by story style.

	News Articles	Feature Articles	Editorial/Op Ed. Articles	Total
Experience	11 (16.7%)	6 (14%)	8 (34.8%)	25
Race	9 (13.6%)	9 (20.9%)	6 (26.1%)	24
Viability	46 (69.7%)	28 (65.1%)	9 (39.1%)	83
Total	66	43	23	132

Image and Issue Focus

RQ4a asked: "Which received the greater amount of media attention in the 2008 election, image or issue-focused stories?" Of the 225 articles coded, 147 (65.3%) had a predominant focus on aspects of image and 78 (34.7%) were focused on issues. Articles with an image focus were more concerned with physical appearance, speaking style and poll standing. Those focusing on issue were articles discussing candidate policy issues (both existing and those that came up during the election season) and campaign platforms.

RQ4b asked: "What aspects of image are most frequently used in describing the candidates?" The answer to this question varied somewhat considerably depending on the candidate in question and whether or not they were the primary candidate discussed in the article, versus just being mentioned. Various aspects of image were often observed in the same article for most of the candidates.

In the 189 articles in which McCain was mentioned, his popularity or poll standing was identified in 63 (33.3%) articles. This was followed by personality, which was discussed in 41 (21.7%) articles. McCain's spouse and children were mentioned less frequently, appearing in 7



(3.7%) and 5 (2.6%) articles, respectively, and mentioned the least often were McCain's physical image characteristics (hair, dress and facial features), which were mentioned in 4 (2.1%) articles. In the 95 articles in which McCain was the primary candidate discussed, popularity or poll standing was still the most frequently referenced aspect of image, done at around the same percent of times, appearing in 32 (33.7%) articles. Following popularity or poll standing was personality, which was referenced in 27 (28.4%) articles, and McCain's spouse, who was mentioned in 5 (5.3%) articles. Receiving the fewest amount of media mentions were McCain's physical image and children, which were brought up in 3 (3.2%) and 2 (2.1%) articles each.

Overall, aspects of Obama's image were mentioned somewhat more frequently than McCain's. In the 191 articles in which Obama was mentioned, the highest amount of image references came in the form of his popularity or poll standing, which was mentioned in 70 (36.6%) articles. Obama's personality was the next most often discussed aspect of his image, and was brought up in 33 (17.3%) articles. Physical image was mentioned in 13 (6.8%) articles for Obama, and his spouse and children were referenced in 9 (4.7%) and 8 (4.2%) articles, respectively. In the 85 articles in which Obama was the primary candidate discussed, the image attributes receiving the greatest amount of media focus remained the same. Popularity or poll standing was mentioned in 38 (44.7%) articles, followed by discussion of Obama's personality, which was brought up in 20 (23.5%) articles. Following personality were aspects of Obama's physical appearance, which were discussed in 11 (12.9%) articles, and his spouse and children, mentioned in 9 (10.6%) and 7 (8.2%) articles each.

References to Palin's image were considerably higher than those for the other candidates, and unlike McCain and Obama, in the 89 articles in which she was mentioned, personality was the most cited, being mentioned in 33 (37.1%) articles. Next were poll standing or popularity,



which was discussed in 18 (20.2%) articles and her children, who were brought up in 16 (18%) articles. Very close to mentions of children were aspects of Palin's physical image, mentioned in 13 (14.6%) articles, and least mentioned was her spouse, who was referenced in 9 (10.1%) articles. In the 29 articles in which Palin was the primary candidate discussed, personality remained the most frequently referenced image aspect, being mentioned in 20 (69%) articles. However, unlike the articles in which she was mentioned, when Palin was the primary candidate discussed, the next most frequently cited aspect of her image was her children, which were brought up in 12 (41.4%) articles. Next came mentions of Palin's physical image, which was referenced in 10 (34.5%) articles, popularity or poll standing, mentioned in 9 (31%) articles, and her spouse, discussed in 7 (24.1%) articles.

Biden's image was very rarely referenced, but when it was discussed in the 33 articles mentioning him, it was found to be done equally for popularity or poll standing, personality and his spouse, which were all referenced in 3 (9.1%) articles each. Biden's children were mentioned in 2 (6.1%) articles and his physical image was never referenced. In the 3 articles in which Biden was the primary candidate, his spouse and children were each mentioned in 1 (33%) article, and aspects of his personality, popularity or poll standing and physical image were never addressed.

Interestingly, popularity and poll standing were both identified as the most frequently referenced aspects of image for McCain and Obama, while Palin was more likely to have aspects of her personality and children discussed. Biden was equally likely to have both, but had very few references to image overall. Both Obama and, especially, Palin had aspects of their physical appearance discussed, but this was very rarely done for McCain and not at all for Biden.



Age and Gender References

RQ5 asked: "How frequently is age used to describe the candidates in the 2008 election?" In the 189 articles in which McCain was mentioned, his age was discussed in 8 (4.2%) articles. In the 95 articles listing him as the primary candidate discussed, McCain's age was brought up in 4 (4.2%) articles. Of the 191 articles mentioning Obama, his age was discussed in 8 (4.2%) articles. Most of these mentions appeared in the 85 stories listing him as primary candidate, where his age was talked about in 7 (8.2%) articles. Although she was mentioned much less overall, in the 89 articles mentioning her, Palin's age was mentioned in 6 (6.7%) articles. In the 29 articles listing her as the primary candidate it was discussed in 4 (13.8%) articles. Biden's age was discussed much less frequently, appearing in only 1 (3%) article of the 33 in which he was mentioned. Age was not discussed in the 3 articles listing Biden as the primary candidate. Interestingly, considering that Palin is mentioned overall in far fewer articles than McCain and Obama, she is almost twice as likely as the two male candidates to have her age discussed.

Overall, when age in general was discussed in the 225 articles, it was most often mentioned as being detrimental to the candidate; these references occurred in 7 (3.1%) articles. Age was next likely to be mentioned in reference to potential voters, where it was found in 5 (2.2%) articles. Finally, age was discussed as a candidate asset in 3 (1.3%) articles analyzed.

RQ6 asked: "How frequently is gender mentioned to describe the candidates?" In the 189 articles in which McCain was mentioned, his gender was discussed in 1 (0.5%) article. Similarly, in the 191 articles mentioning Obama, his gender was also addressed in 1 (0.5%) article. Palin's gender was referenced in 35 (39.3%) of the 89 articles mentioning her, and Biden's was brought up in just 1 (3%) article of the 33 mentioning him. Because gender was only really mentioned for Palin, further analysis was conducted to examine the ways in which it was used. Often, more



than one aspect of gender was identified within the same article. Overall, in the 35 articles mentioning Palin's gender, it was discussed in 9 (25.7%) articles in terms of physical appearance, in 16 (45.7%) articles in terms of her parental role because of gender, and in 15 (42.9%) articles in reference to her masculine or feminine traits.

Of the 89 articles in which Palin as a candidate was mentioned, her gender was discussed in terms of her physical appearance in 9 (10.1%) articles, in 17 (19.1%) articles in terms of her parental role because of her gender and in 15 (16.9%) articles in terms of her masculine or feminine traits. In the 29 articles in which she was the primary candidate discussed, her gender was mentioned in 6 (20.7%) articles in terms of her physical appearance, in 12 (41.4%) articles in reference to her parental role because of her gender and in 11 (37.9%) articles in terms of her masculine or feminine traits.

A further post-hoc observation noted that in the 95 articles that listed McCain as the primary candidate discussed, Palin's gender was mentioned in 13 (13.7%) articles. In the 85 articles with Obama as the primary candidate discussed, Palin's gender was discussed in 5 (5.9%) articles. Of the 29 articles that listed Palin as the primary candidate discussed, her gender was mentioned in 17 (58.6%). Finally, the three articles focusing on Biden did not mention Palin's gender. For this reason, they were eliminated from the 212 articles with a primary candidate discussed, leaving a total of 209 articles to be analyzed. The differences between candidates and mention of Palin's gender were statistically significant ($\chi^2 = 44.3$, df = 2, p = .000). Worth noting is that as Table 4 shows, Palin's gender was mentioned in more than half of the articles that had her as the primary focus.

Table 4: Cross-tabulation of primary candidate discussed and mention of Palin's gender.

*	Palin's gende	Palin's gender mentioned			
	Yes	No	Total		
McCain	13 (13.7%)	82 (86.3%)	95		
Obama	5 (5.9%)	80 (94.1%)	85		
Palin	17 (58.6%)	12 (41.4%)	29		
Total	35	174	209		

Chapter V: Discussion and Conclusions

The purpose of this study was to examine the framing of the major candidates during the 2008 presidential election. The study examined how newspaper coverage depicted the presidential and vice presidential candidates for the Republican and Democratic parties. The study focused on aspects of experience, race, viability, age and gender because of their use in prior media research and their relevance to the unique composition among the leading candidates in the 2008 election.

The content analysis of three leading U.S. national newspapers: *The New York Times*, the *Chicago Tribune* and *USA Today* showed some interesting results.

Media Framing in the 2008 Election

Considering the three frames identified and examined in the study: viability, experience and race, the results were consistent with previous political communication research that has shown horserace, or viability-focused coverage to be the dominant way of discussing political candidates (Domke, Fan, Fibison, Shah, Smith & Watts, 1997; Mantler & Whiteman, 1995; Stemple & Windhauser, 1991). In every type of story style examined (news article, feature stories, editorial/op ed.) viability was the dominant frame discussed, although it was more common for news and feature articles. As one might expect, the discussion of viability was largely surrounding the two presidential candidates John McCain and Barack Obama and not used as heavily for vice presidential candidates Sarah Palin and Joe Biden. The viability frame was used consistently throughout the August-November course of media coverage and was present in each of the three newspapers examined.

An interesting observation made about the viability frame was how often it took the tone of the somewhat familiar "game" frame that has also been connected to the idea of horserace



coverage. An example of just how blatantly the media can sometimes treat elections as though they were merely high-stakes games comes in an October 21 *New York Times* news article by Katharine Seelye, "Mr. Obama has achieved a milestone: he is now neck and neck with his Republican rival and is even slightly ahead in some polls." Another instance where the media literally used the horserace analogy to describe the election was found in a September 20 *New York Times* news article by Julie Bosman, "...as both Mr. McCain and Mr. Obama jockey to prove their superior ability to lead the nation through the crisis..." Not all of the viability coverage related to games focused on the election in terms of a race, however. A September 26 *Chicago Tribune* feature story by Newton Minow consistently referred to an upcoming debate as the "big game", and news stories such as an October 27 *Chicago Tribune* article by Jill Zuckman and an October 20 *USA Today* article by Chuck Raasch described candidates in terms of their "defensive" or "offensive" positions.

Much more frequently identified in the viability frame, however, were discussions of candidate poll standing, outcome predictions, and commentary on tactics that each campaign team was currently using to win over new voters. Each of the three newspapers had a substantial number of articles that referenced one poll or another, and although the poll results were generally straight-forward and without much interpretation on behalf of the journalist, there were also a large number of stories that tried to forecast the outcome of the election. An example of this can be found in an October 30 *Chicago Tribune* news article by Eric Zorn, in which he predicted, "... Barack Obama will nevertheless win handidly..." Similar assumptions were made in an October 17 *Chicago Tribune* article by Jim Tankersley, where referring to several "undecided" states he said, "...John McCain cold sweep them all and still lose the presidency" and much earlier in a September 7 *Chicago Tribune* feature story by John Kass that declared,



"...even though Obama probably has this election won..." Still other articles based assumptions on much less than current public opinion polls, such as an October 9 article in the *Chicago Tribune* that made outcome predictions based on the number of Halloween masks bearing the two candidate's likeness were sold.

Tactics were often discussed in terms of exactly what each of the candidates must accomplish to take the election. This was frequently done in reference to the electoral college and states that they would need to win, such as evidenced in this October 6 *Chicago Tribune* news article by John McCormick:

In the days before and after Tuesday's second presidential debate, Barack Obama will spend his time in states where Democratic presidential candidates rarely go, especially this close to an election. Obama now is focusing on Virginia, North Carolina and Indiana.

Further discussion of candidate tactics were made in an October 20 *USA Today* article by Chuck Raasch, which described McCain's desperation to win key states by saying that he "planned to campaign in Virginia and North Carolina on Saturday, two states that in past elections would have been well in GOP hands this close to an election."

Because the viability frame was visible in so many articles (in fact, far more than any other frame), it can be concluded that it remains a very commonly utilized frame for the mass media when covering political elections. Even more, the news media doesn't necessarily just focus on viability in terms of poll standing, but rather it often describes the candidates and the entire election as a competition that is based on strategy and tactics, rather than issues.

The other two frames analyzed in this study were race and experience. Although neither were identified even remotely as frequently as viability, they were still visible in the 2008 election coverage. The second most frequently utilized frame was experience, which was typically only discussed in terms of the arguably less-experienced candidates, Obama and Palin.



This in itself is not surprising considering that McCain and Biden both have served two and three decades, respectively, in the U.S. Senate. However, what might be of interest is that only the lack of experience in both Obama and Palin's record was ever really discussed, with very little mention of it as a positive quality for McCain and Biden. In fact, although experience was used more often as a frame in articles focusing on McCain than those focusing on Obama, it was often regarding his decision to pick a relatively inexperienced running mate. An example of this can be seen in the November 2 *Chicago Tribune* feature story by Christi Parsons:

McCain's selection of Alaska Gov. Sarah Palin as his running mate and later the hasty decision to suspend his campaign to work on the Wall Street bailout made it harder for him to press the argument that started out as his natural advantage: that his ticket offered voters more experience.

Unlike the other candidates who had viability as the most dominant frame, when Palin was the primary candidate discussed in an article, the most frequently utilized frame was experience. Many of the articles using this frame discussed her lack of experience harshly, such as an October 3 *New York Times* editorial article by David Brooks that claimed she "took her inexperience and made a mansion out of it" during the recent vice presidential debate. Several articles even discussed recent polls conducted during the election regarding Palin's level of experience. One example is an October 3 *USA Today* article that described a recent 2008 poll conducted by the Pew Research Center for the People and the Press showing, "...the number of people who believe Palin is qualified to serve as president has dropped to 37% from 52% in early September." Although Obama too received media criticism for his relatively low levels of experience, they were significantly less often and less severe than those regarding Palin.

Perhaps some of the severity in the way Palin was described was due to the fact that her most heavily utilized frame was present in a greater percentage of editorial/op ed. stories than in news or feature stories. Because editorials are characteristically much more opinionated and



"colorful" than news or feature stories, the fact that so many of those analyzed were devoted to her inexperience gives an overwhelmingly negative valence to this frame when applied to her.

The final frame, race, was most often used in all three newspapers as a reference to the groundbreaking nature of race in this election. Although the discussion of Obama as the first African American to ever win a major party nomination and his chance to be the first African American president was generally mentioned as fact with little elaboration, an exception is a November 2 *New York Times* feature story by Susan Saulny, in which she talks with an elderly man who never thought he would "have the chance to vote for a black president." This too is fairly consistent with what has been identified as a media tendency to sometimes portray minority candidates as "breaking through" (Sinclair-Chapman & Price, 2008).

The race frame was also used in regards to commentary on existing racism in the United States, whether it be easily visible or covert. This was often described as how it would relate to voter preference, as evidenced in an October 26 *New York Times* feature story by Bruce Lambert that called race the "great unknown in this election." Some articles used this same basic idea of race as a large enough deciding factor for voters that it could potentially influence election outcomes. The implied impact referenced the "Bradley effect," which suggests that white people may tell pollsters that they would vote for a black man, but never actually do so because of their own prejudices. However, in an October 22 Chicago Tribune editorial article, Kathleen Parker suggests that, "...equally significant this time may be the reverse-Bradley effect: whites who would never admit to voting for a black man, but do." Other articles, such as an October 27 *Chicago Tribune* feature story by Dawn Turner-Trice discuss race as being such a major factor that there were discussions of riots on election night.



Race was also referenced as a political move, as illustrated in articles published on October 23 in *The New York Times* and on October 29 in the *Chicago Tribune*, both of which discussed the accusations of former Secretary of State Colin Powell's endorsement of Obama as being racially motivated. Other mentions of race and its role in the election were generally in the form of the Republican Party using it to play into the public's covertly racist feelings, such as is described in this October 12 *New York Times* editorial piece by Frank Rich:

Is there still enough racism in America to prevent a black man from becoming president? And, will Republicans play the race card? The jury is out on the first question until Nov. 4. But we now have the unambiguous answer to the second: Yes.

Another example of this is found in an October 22 Chicago Tribune editorial article where Kathleen Parker criticizes Palin's "pals around with terrorists" comments as an attempt to appeal to xenophobic, racist voters who might not vote for Obama because of anti-Muslim feelings.

Not surprisingly, and consistent with research done on the 2008 election thus far, the discussion of race as a ground-breaking "first" received a considerable amount of newspaper coverage. This was generally very neutral and discussed as fact, rather than as an accusation or prediction. Although previous research, polls, and perhaps most importantly, the 2008 the election results have shown that racism might not be a significant enough factor to impact the outcome of elections, it was an issue discussed by the media, nonetheless.

Although all three frames examined were identified in the coverage of the 2008 election, the most heavily utilized regardless of story style was the viability frame. Both race and experience were discussed, but typically when this was done in news and feature stories it was focused much more strictly on fact, and as could be expected, was much more opinionated (sometimes harshly) in the editorials.



Describing the Candidates

Even though each candidate was discussed in the media coverage of the 2008 election, the amount of coverage they each received varied considerably. The presidential candidate from each party, John McCain and Barack Obama, were mentioned nearly the same amount of times, which was far more often than the two vice presidential candidates, Sarah Palin and Joe Biden. Interestingly though, Palin received considerably more media attention than Biden, who was very rarely discussed. In the few times that Biden was referenced, it was almost never as the primary focus of the article. This comes in contrast to previous research that showed female candidates as receiving fewer amounts of coverage than their male counterparts (Smith, 1997; Stemple & Windhauser, 1991). Although the cause of this cannot be determined in this study, it could possibly be due, at least in part, to the fact that Palin was the first woman to ever be nominated by the Republican Party for vice president, or that the 2008 election was the first time that most of the country had been exposed to her while Biden had been a figure on the national political scene for decades. Or, if research on Bob Dole in the 1996 election holds true, (Diamond & D'Amato, 1996) it could be because McCain's age subconsciously made people more interested in who he was selecting as a running mate.

Consistent with previous research, the majority of coverage for each of the four candidates was neutral (Bystrom et al., 2001; Stemple & Windhauser, 1991). However, as previous research also suggests, the amount of positive to negative coverage that each candidate received varied greatly from person to person (Carroll & Schreiber, 1997; Patterson, 2002). Obama had the highest percentage of neutral articles, and around twice as many positive as negative. His running mate Biden not only had the highest percentage of positive articles, but also the lowest percentage of negative descriptions. McCain's percentage of neutral articles was



close to that of both Obama and Biden, but he received the lowest level of positive articles overall and more negative coverage than either of them. Finally, Palin received by far the greatest amount of negative articles, but at the same time, garnered a percentage of positive articles so high that it rivaled coverage of Obama. It seemed that the articles discussing her were far more polarizing than the other candidates, as barely over half of hers were considered neutral.

Also consistent with previous research, e.g., Cappella & Jamieson, 1997; Domke et al., 1997, articles focusing on candidate image were more prevalent than those discussing issues (campaign or policy-related). The majority of image references for the two presidential candidates came in the form of candidate popularity or poll standing, which is no surprise given the frequent occurrence of the viability frame. However, there were other mentions of candidate image that came up, and this too, varied from candidate to candidate. Biden's image was very rarely addressed, but when it was he was equally likely to be described in terms of his popularity or poll standing, personality and spouse. While popularity and poll standing were the most identified image characteristic discussed for the two presidential candidates, Palin's was most often referenced in regards to her personality or children. Regardless of whether she was just mentioned or appeared as the primary candidate discussed, Palin's children, physical image and spouse were all referenced in greater percentages than any of the other candidates. This is somewhat in line with past research considering that a large amount of media coverage on female candidates tries to fit them and their personalities into traditional gender stereotypes such as wife and mother (Dimitrova & Geske, 2009; Kahn, 1994; Norris, 1997) and mentions their children and martial status more frequently than those of male candidates (Bystrom et al, 2001).

However, the McCain/Palin campaign strategy of boasting her "hockey mom" image makes it slightly harder to decipher exactly how much of this was because the media continues to



enforce outdated gender stereotypes upon female candidates, and how much was relaying her campaign rhetoric and self-framing. Regardless of the media's reinforcement of Palin's image as mother and wife, her physical image was undoubtedly discussed without her initiation. One example of both her physical image and personality in the media spotlight is in a September 12 *New York Times* editorial:

Choosing as his running mate an attractive, almost unknown, feisty young woman with little political experience, a contentious ideology and offbeat worldview over far more qualified members of his party has gotten Senator McCain the media attention he was seeking.

As with the issues of race and experience, the very descriptive mentions of Palin's physical image appeared almost exclusively in editorials and much more rarely in news or feature articles. However, regardless of where they appeared, the severity has a damaging potential considering prior research demonstrating that the way candidates are portrayed in terms of image and personal attributes can be as important as party affiliation to people determining their voting choices (Sullivan et al, 1990).

Age was not a major part of the media coverage in the 2008 election, and although it was most often referenced as a detrimental candidate asset as previous research has suggested (Diamond & D'Amato, 1996) it was done equally for McCain and Obama, which implies that it was applied as much for being young as for being old – perhaps contrary to what previous research had shown about it only being concerned with older candidates (Diamond & D'Amato, 1996). It is also interesting that age was mentioned so infrequently because a poll conducted by the PEW Research Center showed that age was a concern for 40% of voters. A similar survey showed that experience was a concern for 50% of voters, just 10% more than age, yet this was covered considerably more by the news media.



Gender was mentioned very rarely for the three male candidates, and although still not the majority of the time, much more frequently for the one female candidate. This was especially true in articles with Palin as the primary focus, where it was mentioned in more than half of the articles. As in the case of the race frame, a large number of these mentions were focused on the prospect of the ground-breaking nature of a female vice president and the fact that she was the first person to ever run in such a position for the Republican Party. However, many of the articles took a much more traditionally sexist tone, such as a September 20 *New York Times* editorial by Charles Blow that describes Palin's appearance and candidacy as "superficial" and just after the announcement of her candidacy, an August 29 *USA Today* feature story by John Yaukey that discusses her history in Alaskan pageantry, physical attractiveness, inexpensive wedding and children in much greater detail than her political history.

Overall, when Palin's gender was mentioned, it was discussed more often in regards to her role as a mother or in reference to her masculine or feminine traits. While these mentions may seem exceptionally high, this is not to belittle the fact that when her gender was mentioned overall, it was discussed in more than a quarter of articles in terms of her physical appearance.

In both articles mentioning Palin and those focusing primarily on her, gender was a major issue that was often discussed in terms of her physical appearance and role as a mother. This shows that although it was sometimes described as a groundbreaking first to have a Republican woman running for vice president, the media very often used outdated and stereotypical ways to describe Palin as a female candidate. Perhaps the most significant finding though, was that her gender was mentioned in the majority of the articles in which she was the primary focus, which to some extent may be expected because of the historic nature of her candidacy. However, while nevertheless still worthy of consideration, the other major "first" in the 2008 election, race, was



mentioned much less frequently in articles with Obama as the primary focus than gender was for Palin.

However, as with race, experience and image, when gender was described several of the editorials took a much bolder approach, such as a September 15 *Chicago Tribune* editorial by Katha Pollitt:

John McCain chose the supremely underqualified Sarah Palin as his running mate partly because she is a woman. If you have a problem with that, you're a sexist. She talks incessantly about being a mother of five and uses her newborn, Trig, who has Down syndrome, as a campaign prop.

Regardless of the story style that they appeared in, the higher amount of attention paid to Palin's physical appearance and role as a mother supports past research that shows this as being more likely to happen to female candidates, (Kahn, 1994; Norris, 1997; Ross & Sreberny, 2000) and comes in contrast to more recent research that had found this trend to be declining (Bystrom et al., 2001).

Conclusions

Overall, the findings of this study provide evidence that the framing of the candidates in the 2008 election was largely consistent with that of previous elections. The media did continue to portray candidates using the viability frame. Race and experience framing included the harsh descriptions of candidates, which were largely present in editorial/op ed. articles while news and feature stories appeared to take a much more neutral approach. This can also be said for the issue of gender, which was addressed much more bluntly in editorial articles. While this is a characteristic of editorials in general, many of the harshest descriptions were in reference to Palin, which is similar to what previous scholars have found about female candidates being described in much harsher terms than their male counterparts (Eagly et al., 1992; Gidengil & Everitt, 2003). Although it can't be said definitively that the media coverage of Palin was more

detrimental to her than the other candidates, as was once the case with women running for political office, (Kahn, 1994, 1992; Gidengil & Everitt, 2003; Leeper, 1991; Sapiro, 1982) it undeniably contained more negative and stereotypical references. Palin's gender was mentioned much more frequently than that of the male candidates and when it was discussed, it was often done in very outdated ways, such as her physical appearance and her role as a mother. This comes in contrast to research done on more recent elections that showed the conditions for female political candidates in the media to be improving (Bystrom, et al., 2001). However, that may be due in part to the fact that for the first time, a woman almost won the Democratic nomination for president and a woman was nominated by the Republican Party for vice president. Perhaps this is why the media reacted by placing them into traditional stereotypes. Or, perhaps women face less gendered stereotypes by the media when they run for legislative, rather than executive, office.

Discussions of viability still receive an incredible amount of attention from the news media and more than half of all coverage examined focused on candidate image rather than campaign or policy issues. The dominance of image over issue may be a serious problem for a public who turns to the media for information on candidates, especially considering that some scholars have shown consistent exposure to news without considerable issue focus having potentially damaging impacts on voters (Cappella & Jamieson, 1997). The predominant emphasis on viability framing coupled with heavy image focus may lead to increased political cynicism and voter apathy as well as a lack of public knowledge about candidate issues.

Implications

Media framing of politics and elections can have multiple implications on potential voters. Regardless of the type of frame employed, news audiences may interpret the article



messages primarily within the context of the frames and therefore only really consider the elements which have received a greater media emphasis. In the case of viability, this may be especially troublesome since the constant updates on poll standing and strategy may not only assign a certain level of potential on each of the candidates, but also make voters less interested in participating in an election that they feel is petty or has already been determined. In the case of gender, by portraying female candidates in outdated stereotypical ways that focus on their physical appearance and role as a mother, the media are sending a message to potential voters that they are somehow less qualified than their male counterparts: women first, politicians second.

The implications for journalists and other industry practitioners must first begin by recognizing that rather than reporting elections as a serious event, most main news sources currently cover them as little more than a high-stakes competition. Since this has been shown to increase levels of audience cynicism, this coverage may lead to lower levels of trust in these media sources – reducing credibility with audiences. Media practitioners need to take an objective stance that focuses more heavily on candidate policy issues and campaign platforms. Doing so provides important information to potential voters who are making decisions about a major election.

The media also have an obligation to help level the playing field for female politicians, rather than make it more difficult for them to win voter support by reporting on their gender harshly or as an attribute more important than their political prowess. This study shows that race was a much less discussed element of the 2008 election than gender. Although both issues were addressed with some regularity, the media references to gender were much more frequent, outdated and blatant.



Limitations

This study was conducted exclusively on newspaper articles and didn't take into consideration other forms of media. Decline in readership continues to be an issue for many newspapers and television remains the most popular source of information. Also, in recent years many people have begun turning to the Internet to receive campaign information and although most online news sites don't do original reporting and may use stories already published in newspapers, it would have been beneficial to consider this medium as well. Also, the sample size selected was relatively small considering the number of articles published from each of the sources during the period of time examined.

The code sheet asked only for frames present in each article to be listed as most dominant, second most dominant, and third most dominant. This design made it impossible to capture additional frames per article.

Suggestions for Future Research

A more thorough examination of candidate descriptions through various media platforms would provide a more well-rounded vision of the way that each of the candidates were depicted in coverage of the 2008 election. Even more beneficial, perhaps, would be to consider what impacts these various descriptions have on the opinions and understanding of potential voters. This could be done using secondary poll data or via surveys or experiments in an effort to detect a causal link between various media frames and voting behavior or understanding. Further research in this area could be conducted to determine the frames presented through the media and how they compare to audience frames.

Finally, it is important to consider exactly what leads to this type of media framing in the first place. Understanding the elements that make up the frame-building process, whether they be



journalistic bias, societal factors or national culture, would add significantly to the area of framing research.



Code Sheet

Coder Name:	
Article Number:	(enter as string variable)
Source	(1) The New York Times, (2) USA Today, (3) Chicago Tribune
Month:	(1) August, (2) September, (3) October, (4) November
Date:	4 (01-31)
Name:	Name of journalist reporting the story (enter as string variable), (99) unknown/can't determine
Gender:	Gender of journalist reporting the story: (1) female, (2) male (99) unknown/can't determine
Story source:	(1) Associated Press (or other wire service) (2) Local staff reporter (3) National columnist (4) Reporter from another paper (5) Can't determine
Story style:	(1) news (2) feature (3) editorial/op ed

[A *news* story focuses on reporting information about a recent event. It is written to move quickly through the "five Ws and H"—who, what, where, why, when and how—in the "inverted pyramid" style, with the most important information in the first paragraphs and decreasingly important information in subsequent paragraphs.

A *feature* story is not meant to report breaking news, but to take an in-depth look at a subject. Features are often significantly longer than news articles, are more likely to be written from a personal perspective, and often delve deeper into their subjects. Although written to be more colorful, they do not include the opinions of the reporter.

An *editorial/op ed* column expresses the opinion of the writer and/or news publication. Most editorials take the form of an essay or thesis, using arguments to promote a point of view.]



[Articles with a dominant focus on *Candidate Image* will primarily discuss physical appearance, speaking style and delivery and candidate poll standing in comparison to one another.

Articles with a dominant focus on *Candidate Issue* will primarily discuss candidate or campaign platforms and policy issues.]

Story focus:
$$(1)$$
 Image (2) Issue

McCain mentioned:
$$(0-no, 1-yes)$$

Obama mentioned:
$$(0-no, 1-yes)$$

Palin mentioned:
$$(0-no, 1-yes)$$

Biden mentioned:
$$(0-no, 1-yes)$$

[Candidate focus 1 is the primary candidate discussed in the news article. Subsequent Candidate Focus should go in order of the candidates with the next largest amount of attention in the news story.]

	child/children mentioned 20	21	_ poll standing/ popularity mentioned
	personality (qualities and traits related to car 22 temperament, emotions and mental state)		s character, behavior,
Obama image:	(0-no, 1-yes if mentioned in story)		
	appearance (hair, dress, facial features)	24	_ spouse mentioned
	child/children mentioned	26	_ poll standing/ popularity mentioned
	personality (qualities and traits related to car 27 temperament, emotions and mental state)		s character, behavior,
Palin image:	(0-no, 1-yes if mentioned in story)		
	appearance (hair, dress, facial features) 28	29	_ spouse mentioned
	child/children mentioned 30	31	_ poll standing/ popularity mentioned
	personality (qualities and traits related to car 32 temperament, emotions and mental state)	ndidate'	s character, behavior,
Biden image:	(0-no, 1-yes if mentioned in story)		
	appearance (hair, dress, facial features)	34	_ spouse mentioned
	child/children mentioned 35	36	_ poll standing/ popularity mentioned
	personality (qualities and traits related to car	ndidate'	s character, behavior,



37 temperament, emotions and mental state)

[Experience frame is present in stories in which the main focus is on the perceived level of candidate experience among potential voters. An example is: "Obama's lack of experience may hurt his credibility among voters."

Race frame is present in stories which are predominantly focused on either the candidate's race as it relates to the election, or as it relates to potential voters. Examples are: "If elected, Obama would be the first African American president." Or, "Because it is the first time that an African American is a major party candidate, minorities are expected to turn out to voting booths in record numbers for the 2008 election."

Viability frame is present in stories with the main focus on candidate poll standing, or potential to garner voter support. Examples are: "Mr. Obama is now running neck and neck with his Republican rival, Senator John McCain." Or, "McCain's strategists contend that Obama's lead is narrowing and predict a historic upset."

*It is possible that articles may possess none, as few as one, or as many as all three frames.]

Frame 1: (the most dominant frame utilized in the story) ___ (1) Experience, (2) Race, (3) Viability, (4) Can't determine 38 Phrase 1: (the term, metaphor, phrase, or complete sentence that define Frame 1 - ifapplicable) **39** Frame 2: (the second most dominant frame utilized in the story) _ (1) Experience, (2) Race, (3) Viability, (4) Can't determine 40 Phrase 2: (the term, metaphor, phrase, or complete sentence that define Frame 2 - ifapplicable) 41 Frame 3: (the third most dominant frame utilized in the story)

(1) Experience, (2) Race, (3) Viability, (4) Can't determine



42

Phrase 3:	(the term, metaphor, phrase, or complete sentence that define Frame 3 – if applicable)
	43
Candidate's gender	mentioned: (0-no, 1-yes)
	McCainObamaPalinBiden44
	44 45 40 47
If yes, was th	Appearance Parental role Masculine/feminine traits 48 Other (enter as string variable) 51
Candidate's age me	ntioned: (0-no, 1-yes)McCainObamaPalinBiden 52
If yes, was it	discussed as the following: (0-no, 1-yes) As a candidate asset As a candidate detriment 56 As related to potential voters 59 Other (enter as string variable)
	ce) stories include mostly positive references/comments by reporter, positive actions in favor of candidate;
	ce) stories include mostly negative references/comments by reporter, negative lictions not in candidate's favor;
	ries include a balance of positive and negative comments/quotes AND/OR stories tic opinion is included.]
McCain Valence:	(overall valence of the article toward McCain) (1) Positive (2) Negative (3) Neutral (4) Can't determine/NA
Obama Valence:	(overall valence of the article toward Obama) (1) Positive (2) Negative (3) Neutral (4) Can't determine/NA 61



Palin Valence:	`		ce of the article	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	(1) Positive	(2) Negative	(3) Neutral	(4) Can't determine/NA
	62				
Biden Valence:	(overall valend	ce of the article	toward Biden)	
		(1) Positive	(2) Negative	(3) Neutral	(4) Can't determine/NA
	63				

References

- Abrams, H. (1998). Bob Dole's age and health in the 1996 election: Did the media let us down? *Political Science Quarterly*, 113(3), 471-492.
- Blow, C. (2008, September 20). Lipstick Bungle. The New York Times, p. 19.
- Blumner, J. (1987) Election Communication and the Democratic Political System. In Paletz (Ed.) *Political communication research*. Norwood, NJ: Ablex Publishing Corporation, 167-175.
- Brooks, D. (2008, October 3). The Palin rebound. The New York Times, p. 25.
- Bystrom, D. (2008, November). A Tale of Two States: Newspaper coverage of Hillary Clinton's presidential candidacy in Iowa and New Hampshire. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the National Communication Association, San Diego, CA.
- Bystrom, D. & Dimitrova, D.V. (2007). Rocking the youth vote: How television covered young voters and issues in a 2004 target state. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 50(9), 1124-1136.
- Bystrom, D., Banwart, M., Kaid, L., & Robertson, T. (2004). *Gender and candidate communication*. New York: Routledge.
- Bystrom, D., Robertson, T., & Banwart, M. (2001). Framing the fight: An analysis of media coverage of female and male candidates in primary races for governor and U.S. Senate in 2000. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 44(12), 1999-2013.
- Cappella, J., & Jamieson, K.H. (1997). *Spiral of cynicism: The press and the public good*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Carragee, K. & Roefs, W. (2004). The neglect of power in recent framing research. *Journal of Communication*, 54(2), 214-233.
- Carroll, S. & Schreiber, R. (1997). Media coverage of women in the 103rd Congress. In Norris (Ed), *Women, media, and politics*. New York: Oxford University Press, 131-148.
- Chaffee, S. H., Zhao, X., & Leshner, G. (1994). Political knowledge and the campaign media of 1992. *Communication Research*, 21(3), 305-324.
- Chicago Tribune. (2008, October 9). So wrong. *Chicago Tribune*, p. 9.
- Cook, T. (1998). Governing with the news. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.



- D'Angelo, P., Calderone, M., & Territola, A. (2005). Strategy and issue framing: An exploratory analysis of topics and frames in campaign 2004 print news. *Atlantic Journal of Communication*, 13(4), 199-219.
- de Vreese, C. (2005). News framing: Theory and typology. *Information Design Journal* + *Document Design*, 13(1), 51-62.
- Diamond, E. & D'Amato, J. (1996). What's age got to do with it? *Columbia Journalism Review*, 35(3), 43-45.
- Dimitrova, D. V. & Geske, E. (2009). To cry or not to cry: Media framing of Hillary Clinton in the wake of the New Hampshire primary. Paper presented to the 2009 International Communication Association conference, Chicago, IL.
- Dimitrova, D. V. & Stromback, J. (2005). Mission accomplished? Framing the Iraq War in the elite newspapers in Sweden and the United States. *The International Journal for Communication Studies*, 67(5), 399-417.
- Domke, D., Fan, D., Fibison, M., Shah, D., Smith, S., & Watts, M. (1997). News media, candidates and issues, and public opinion in the 1996 presidential campaign. *Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly*, 74(4), 718-737.
- Duerst-Lahti, G. (2008). Seeing what has always been: Opening study of the presidency. *PS: Political Science & Politics*, 43, 733-737.
- Eagly, A., Makhijani, M., & Klonsky, B. (1992). Gender and the evaluation of leaders: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 111(1), 3-22.
- Entman, R. (1993). Framing: Toward clarification of a fractured paradigm. *Journal of Communication*, 43(4), 51-58.
- Fahri, P. (2008). In the tank? So let's get this straight: "the media" are swooning over Barack, McCain, but can't stand Hillary? Maybe it's a little more complicated than that. *American Journalism Review*, 30(3), 28-33.
- Freitag, A. (2000). An Analysis: New Hampshire primary coverage. *Newspaper Research Journal*, 21(3), 94.
- Gallup. (2008, September 30). *Bush's approval rating drops to new low of 27%.* Retrieved October 28, 2008 from gallup.com: http://www.gallup.com/poll/110806/Bushs-Approval-Rating-Drops-New-Low-27.aspx.
- Ghanem, S. (1997). Filling in the tapestry: The second level of agenda setting. Communication and democracy, Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 3-14.



- Gidengil, E. & Everitt, J. (2003). Talking tough: Gender and reported speech in campaign news coverage. *Political Communication*, 20(3), 209-232.
- Herzog, H. (1998). More than a looking glass: Women in Israeli local politics and the media. *Press/Politics*, 3(1), 1-25.
- Iyengar, S. (1987). Television news and citizens' explanations of national affairs. *American Political Science Review*, 81, 815-831.
- Iyengar, S. (1989). How citizens think about national issues: A matter of responsibility. *American Journal of Political Science*, 33, 878-900.
- Iyengar, S. (1991). *Is anyone responsible? How television frames political issues.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Jones, C. (2008). Vice Presidents and other heirs apparent: The historical experience of experience. *Presidential Studies Quarterly*, 38(3), 422-433.
- Jones, T. (2007). Diversity meets national politics: Only white males need apply. *St. Louis Journalism Review*, 37(295), 9-11.
- Jurkowitz, M. (2008). *Media moment: history, trends, and transition dominate news coverage*. Project for Excellence in Journalism, retrieved November 12, 2008 from PEW Research Center Publications: http://pewresearch.org/pubs/1028/media-moment.
- Kahn, K. (1992). Does being male help: An investigation of gender and media effects in U.S. senate races. *Journal of Politics*, 54(2), 497-517.
- Kahn, K. (1994). Does gender make a difference? An experimental examination of sex stereotypes and press patterns in statewide campaigns. *American Journal of Political Science*, 38(1), 162-195.
- Kahn, K. (1996). *The political consequences of being a woman*. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Kass, J. (2008, September 7). A democratic machine in Chicago? Don't be naïve. *Chicago Tribune*, p. 2.
- Kim, J. (2008). Let's talk about sex(ism). Columbia Journalism Review, 47(4), 12-15.
- Klinenberg, E. (2007). Owning it all: The Tribune company. Retrieved March 31, 2009 from PBS Frontline News War: http://www.pbs.org/wgbh/pages/frontline/newswar/part3/fighting.html



- Kosicki, G., & McLeod, J. (1990). Learning from political news: Effects of media images and information-processing strategies. In Kraus (Ed.), *Mass communication and political information processing*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 69-83.
- Lambert, B. (2008, October 26). Economy is no. 1 concern, but agreement stops there. *The New York Times*, p. 1L1.
- Leeper, M. (1991). The impact of prejudice on female candidates: An experimental look at voter inference. *American Politics Quarterly*, 19(2), 248-261.
- Lemert, J.B. (1993). Do televised presidential debates help inform voters? *Journal of Broadcasting and Electronic Media*, 37(1), 83-94.
- Mantler, G. & Whiteman, D. (1995). Attention to candidates and issues in newspaper coverage of 1992 presidential campaign. *Newspaper Research Journal*, 16(3), 14-28.
- McCormick, J. (2008, October 6). Obama on red-state push- Palin: 'Fair to talk about' senator's ties to Ayers. *Chicago Tribune*, p. 7.
- Murray, F. (1996, March 11). Selling a golden oldie in the market of youth: Dole emphasizes his health, not age. *Washington Times*.
- Neuendorf, K. A. (2002). *The content analysis guidebook*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Newport, F. (2008, June 9). Most say race will not be a factor in their presidential vote; but think the campaigns will use race as an issue this year. *Gallup Poll News Service*.
- Newspapers.com. (2007). *Top 100 U.S. newspapers by circulation*. Retrieved June 5, 2009 from http://newspapers.com/top100.html.
- New York Times, The. (2008, September 12). With Palin, the issue isn't faith and family. *The New York Times*, Editorial Desk.
- New York Times, The. (2008, October 23). We should take Colin Powell's words to heart. *The New York Times*, p. 36A.
- Norris, P. (1997). Women, media, and politics. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Page, S. (2008). *Candidates' age factors little in poll*. Retrieved September 9, 2008 from USA Today online at: http://www.usatoday.com/news/politics/election2008/2008-02-26-candidatesage_N.htm.
- Parker, K. (2008, October 22). Hard to stomach all the ugliness. Chicago Tribune, p. 47.
- Parsons, C. (2008, November 2). An improbable journey. Chicago Tribune, p. 1.



- Patterson, T. (1994). Out of order. New York: Vintage Press.
- Patterson, T. (2002). The vanishing voter: Why are the voting booths so empty? *National Civic Review*, 91(4), 367-379.
- PEW Research Center for the People and the Press. (2008, November 12). *Few will miss campaign news: Public's favorite and least favorite campaign journalists*. Retrieved November 12, 2008 from PEW Research Center Publications: http://pewresearch.org/pubs/1030/few-will-miss-campaign-news.
- PEW Research Center for the People and the Press. (2008, January 11). *Internet's broader role in campaign 2008: Social Networking and online videos take off.* Retrieved August 21, 2008 from people-press.org: http://people-press.org/report/384/internets-broader-role-in-campaign-2008.
- PEW Research Center for the People and the Press (2007, April 15). *Public knowledge of current affairs little changed by news and information revolutions, What Americans know: 1989-2007.* Retrieved April 1, 2009 from people-press.org: http://people-press.org/report/319/public-knowledge-of-current-affairs-little-changed-by-news-and-information-revolutions.
- Pollitt, K. (2008, September 15). Well, what's so great about her? *Chicago Tribune*, p. 23.
- Powers, W. (2007). Not-so-hot buttons. National Journal, 39(46/47), 64.
- Raasch, C. (2008, October 20). Electoral college map has some surprising new states. *USA Today*, p. ARC.
- Reber, B. H. & Benoit, W. L. (2001). Presidential debate stories accentuate the negative. *Newspaper Research Journal*, 22(3), 30-44.
- Rich, F. (2008, October 12). The terrorist Barack Hussein Obama. *The New York Times*, p. 10WK.
- Rosenstiel, T. (2005). Political polling and the new media culture: A case of more being less. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 69(5), 698-715.
- Ross, K. & Sreberny, A. (2000). Women in the house: Media representation of British politicians. In Sreberny, A. and van Zoonen, L. (Eds.), *Gender, politics and communication*. Creskill: Hampton Press, 79-99.
- Rothwell-Truran, J. (2000). Presidential elections in the age of television. *Social Education*, 64(5), 262-271.



- Sapiro, V. (1982). If U.S. Senator Baker were a woman: An experimental study of candidate images. *Political Psychology*, 3(1), 61-83.
- Saulny, S. (2008, November 2). Obama-inspired black voters find politics is for them, too. *The New York Times*, p. 1A.
- Scheufele, D. (1999). Framing as a theory of media effects. *Journal of Communication*, 49(1), 103-122.
- Sinclair-Chapman, V. & Price, M. (2008). Black politics, the 2008 election, and the (im)possibility of race transcendence. *PS: Political Science and Politics*, 41(4), 739-745.
- Smith, K. (1997). When all's fair: Signs of parity in media coverage of female candidates. *Political Communication*, 14(1), 71-82.
- Stempel & Windhauser. (1991). *The Media in 1984 and 1988 presidential campaigns*. New York: Greenwood Press.
- Sullivan, J., Aldrich, J., Borgida, E. & Rahn, W. (1990). Candidate appraisal and human nature: man and superman in the 1984 election. *Political Psychology*, 11(3), 459-484.
- Tankard, J. W. Jr. (2003). The empirical approach to the study of media framing. In Reese, Gandy and Grant (Eds.), *Framing public life: Perspectives on media and our understanding of the social world*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates, Inc., 100-101.
- Tankersley, J. (2008, October 17). Early voting may change the game. *Chicago Tribune*, p. 7.
- Thomas, C. (2008, October 29). McCain's circular firing squad. *Chicago Tribune*, p. 41.
- USA Today. (2008, October 3). Vice presidential debate yields a split decision. *USA Today*, p. 12A.
- Valentino, N.A., Beckmann, M.N., & Buhr, T.A. (2001). A spiral of cynicism for some: The contingent effects of campaign news frames on participation and confidence in government. *Political Communication*, 18, 347-364.
- Wattier, M. (2004). The Clinton factor: The effects of Clinton's personal image in 2000 presidential primaries and in the general election. *White House Studies*, 4(4), 467-488.
- Weaver, D. (1987). Media agenda-setting and elections: Assumptions and implications. In Paletz (Ed.) *Political communication research*. Norwood, NJ: Ablex Publishing Corporation, 176-193.



- Weaver, D., McCombs, M., Shaw, D. (2004). Agenda-setting research: Issues, attributes and influences. In Kaid (Ed.) *Handbook of political communication research*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates, 257-260.
- Yaukey, J. (2008, August 29). Alaska's Palin comes from tough Western stock. *USA Today*, p. ARC.
- Zhu, J.H., Milavsky, R., & Biswas, R. Do televised debates affect image perception more than issue knowledge? A study of the first 1992 presidential debate. *Human Communication Research*, 20(3), 302-333.
- Zorn, E. (2008, October 30). Counterpoint: 8 reasons Obama will win. Chicago Tribune, p. 19.
- Zuckman, J. (2008, October 27). For McCain campaign, all is 'fine' Republican fights to come back with Iowa, Ohio voters. *Chicago Tribune*, p. 11.

